Public Document Pack

Meeting of:
Date:
Time:
Venue:

Pennines Township Committee
Wednesday, 11th November, 2020
6.00 pm.
Zoom

This agenda gives notice of items to be considered in private as required by
Regulations 5 (4) and (5) of The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements)
(Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012.
Item
No.
1

AGENDA

Page No

Apologies
To receive any apologies for absence.

2

Declarations of Interest
Members are required to declare any disclosable pecuniary, personal
or personal and prejudicial interests they may have and the nature of
those interests relating to items on this agenda and/or indicate if S106
of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 applies to them.

3

Minutes
To consider the minutes of the meeting of the Pennines Township held
on 16th September 2020

4

Items for Exclusion of Public and Press
To determine any items on the agenda, if any, where the public are to
be excluded from the meeting.

5

Urgent Items of Business
To determine whether there are any additional items of business
which, by reason of special circumstances, the Chair decides should
be considered at the meeting as a matter of urgency.

6

Open Forum

3-4

Up to half an hour has been set aside for members of the public to
raise any issues relevant to the business of the Committee and the
Township.
7

Sites of Biological Importance Update

5-9

To consider proposed sites of biological importance within Pennines
Township.
8

Need for Primary School Places 2021-2024

10 - 16

Report of Director of Children’s Services regarding future primary
school provision in the Borough – for information.
9

Secondary School Places 2021 and 2022
Report of Director of Children’s Services regarding the provision of
secondary school places in the Borough in 2021 and 2022 – for
information.

Pennines Township Committee Members
Councillor Irene Davidson
Councillor Ashley Dearnley
Councillor Janet Emsley
Councillor John Hartley
Councillor Aftab Hussain
Councillor Andy Kelly
Councillor Rina Paolucci
Councillor Amna Mir
Councillor John Blundell
Councillor David Bamford
Councillor John Taylor
Councillor Tom Besford
For more information about this meeting, please contact
Nazam Suleman
01706 924834
nazam.suleman@rochdale.gov.uk

17 - 24

Agenda Item 3
PENNINES TOWNSHIP COMMITTEE
MINUTES OF MEETING
Wednesday, 16 September 2020
PRESENT: Councillors Besford (Chair), Emsley, Hartley, Davidson, Dearnely,
Blundell, Paolucci, Bamford, Taylor, Hussain and Kelly.
OFFICERS: Tracey Knight (Neighbourhoods Directorate), Nazam Suleman
(Resources Directorate), Nick Barton (Economy Directorate)
45

APOLOGIES
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Mir.

46

MINUTES
RESOLVED
That the Minutes held on Wednesday 22nd July be approved as a correct
record.
HOLLINGWORTH LAKE VISTORS CENTRE
The committee were updated on the tender proposals for Hollingworth Lake.
RESOLVED
The comments be noted and taken to Cabinet.

47

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
There were no declarations of interest.

48

URGENT ITEMS OF BUSINESS
There were no urgent items of business.

49

SECTION 106 - PENNINES PLAY PROVISION
The Committee considered the report of the Director of Economy which
sought approval to allocate funds currently held from Section 106 Open Space
contributions in Pennines Ward to improve play facilities at Hare Hill Park and
Stansfield Estate.
Alternatives considered:
The Council is required to spend Section 106 contributions in accordance with
legal agreements and local and national planning policy. Not bringing forward
projects to spend Section 106 contributions in accordance with these
agreements and policies risk the loss of investment in local facilities, and the
refunding of monies held from Section 106 contributions where there is a time
limited period for spend.

Page 3

Proposals put forward in the report have been the subject of consultation with
Ward Members and reflect their priorities. The use of resources has been
considered to maximise the funding available.
In considering the report, although fully supportive of the project, Members
wanted answers to why Rochdale Boroughwide Housing are not allowing the
council to build on existing parks in the Township.
Resolved:
1. That the allocation of £27,007 from Section 106 Open Space
contributions to improvements to toddler, junior and adventure play
facilities at Hare Hill Park be approved.
2. That the decision in relation to the allocation of £105,000 to provide
new toddler and junior play facilities at Barnes Meadow be delegated
to Director of Economy in consultation with ward members following
clarification from RBH on the status of location.
Reasons for the Recommendation:
Pennines Committee Members have previously requested that all Section 106
Open Space funded schemes be approved by Members by way of a report to
an appropriate committee. A similar process of reporting exists in all other
Townships.
Costed schemes have been prepared by the Council’s Environmental
Management Service and are supported by Ward Councillors.
The schemes are within the parameters of the Section 106 agreements and
the Council’s ‘Provision of Recreational Open Space in New Housing’
Supplementary Planning Document.
Eligible for call in - yes

Page 4

Agenda Item 7
Report to Pennines Township Committee
Date of Meeting
Portfolio

Report Author
Public/Private Document

11th November 2020
Cabinet Member for
Planning, Development &
Housing
Anouska Shepherd-Smith
Public

Sites of Biological Importance Update
Executive Summary
1.1

Sites of Biological Importance (SBIs) are local planning designations covering
areas of nature conservation importance in Greater Manchester which contain
locally valuable habitats, plants and animals. Whilst they are not statutory
designations like Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSIs) or Conservation
Areas, and therefore do not provide legal protection, they can be taken into
consideration when determining planning applications which may affect the
areas and the nature conservation interest.

1.2

New SBIs and changes to existing SBIs are recommended on an annual basis
by the Greater Manchester Ecology Unit (GMEU) and are reported to the
relevant Township(s) in order that they may be adopted for planning purposes.

1.3

The latest review which GMEU have undertaken has recommended that a
new SBI is designated at Newhey Lodge (see map at the end of this report
Figure 1). The reason for this proposal is because the site supports open
water habitat and the associated bat population. The site would be 0.8
hectares in size and is mainly pond and woodland plantation.

1.4

The existing Stanney Brook SBI gained 0.1ha of additional grassland habitat
due to resurvey (See Figure 2).

Recommendation
2.1

It is recommended that Committee approve the new SBI at Newhey Lodge
and addition to the existing Stanney Brook SBI so that the nature conservation
interest of the area can be taken into account when planning applications
which may affect that interest are being considered.

Page 5

Reason for Recommendation
3.1

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states that planning
decisions should contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment
by, amongst other things, protecting and enhancing valued sites of biodiversity
value. The areas in question have been identified by experts as being of local
biodiversity value and we should thus try and protect this value by taking it into
account in planning decisions.

Key Points for Consideration
4.1

The planning system has a hierarchy of designations relating to areas of
biodiversity importance. European level sites are those of the greatest
international value and have high levels of protection, as do areas of national
importance such as Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSIs). There are
other areas which are considered to be more of local value, i.e. containing
wildlife and habitats which are rare locally or regionally rather than nationally;
in Greater Manchester these areas are designated as SBIs on the
recommendation of the GMEU. SBIs are graded either grade ‘A’ (sites of
county and regional importance), ‘B’ (sites of district importance) and ‘C’ (sites
of more than local importance).

4.2

SBIs are not statutorily protected and landowners are not required to take any
measures to protect them, but if an SBI could be negatively affected by a
planning proposal, its existence can justify refusal of the planning application
or requirements for measures to be taken to compensate for the harm caused.
In addition, the presence of SBIs can be advantageous when bids are being
made for funding to improve wildlife habitat in the vicinity.

4.3

The proposed SBI at Newhey Lodge is an area (0.8 hectares) an expanse of
water which is adjacent to the River Beal. The lodge is part of a series of
wetland habitats within the River Beal corridor. The lodge is good foraging
habitat for the bats and the River Beal provides foraging and commuting
habitat. The proposed designation is because of the lodge supports a number
of amphibian species including the UK Biodiversity Priority Species common
toad and smooth newt. It is proposed that the new SBI is grade C (See Figure
1).

4.4

Stanney Brook supports a number of habitats including marsh, acid grassland
and flush communities. A number of species are characteristic of the whole
length of the watercourse and bankside vegetation through the site. The
northern end of Stanney Brook has had a number of additional ditches and
channels created as mitigation for habitats lost within the adjacent
development site. These have been planted with locally native species such
as yellow flag iris, branched bur-reed and bulrush. These habitats have been
added to the SBI boundary. This area supports a high number of breeding
reed bunting, a UK Biodiversity Priority Species. See Figure 2.

Page 6

Alternatives Considered
4.5 The alternative would be to not support the proposed new SBI and addition to
The
an existing SBI, which would leave these locally important areas of habitat
more vulnerable to damage from development in the area or nearby.
Costs and Budget Summary
5.1

There would be no costs to the Council or others from the adoption of the
proposed SBIs.
Risk and Policy Implications

6.1

There are no specific risk or policy issues for Members to consider arising
from this report.
Consultation

7.

There is no specific consultation to be carried out by the Council apart from
this report to Committee.
Background Papers

8.

Place of Inspection

The full site description, and list
of habitats / species present, are
available.

For Further Information Contact:

Please contact report author.

Anouska Shepherd-Smith, ,
anouska.shepherdsmith@rochdale.gov.uk

Page 7

Fig 1.Newhey Lodge

Page 8

Fig 2. Stanney Brook

Page 9

Agenda Item 8
Report to Cabinet
Date of Meeting
Portfolio
Report Author
Public/Private Document

29th September 2020
Cabinet Member for
Children's Services
Fay Davies
Public

Need for Primary School Places 2021-2024
Executive Summary
1.1

After a peak in births for the 2021/22 Primary school intake birth rates appear
to be levelling off and dropping in some area of the borough. However in-year
applications for school places have continued to be high with the usual rate of
key stage 1 (age 5-7 years) and increased numbers arriving at year 3 and
above.

1.2

Large numbers of new housing in the last few years has impacted on the
ability of school admissions to provide school places in schools of preference
and in some localities.

1.3

Housing coming forward in north Pennines, South Rochdale, Middleton and
Heywood will mean some expansion of the school estate will continue to be
needed. In some places inability to further extend schools will require new
schools to be built. Where a new school and site is being delivered through
developer contributions, a trust will be needed to run the school and the Free
school Presumption route is required to be followed. Any new school sites
should be sufficient to requirements.
Recommendation

2.1

That Cabinet consider the information in this report and support the expansion
of the Primary school estate.

2.2

That Cabinet approves the opening of a consultation on proposals to address
the need for extra Reception places.

2.3

That Members consider the new Primary school needed as part of the junction
19 development, which will be required to be provided through developer
contributions and using the Free school Presumption route.

2.4

That Members approve the capital expenditure on bulge classes in north
Pennines and Middleton.

Page 10

Reason for Recommendation
3.1

The council has a statutory duty to provide education and school places to all
school aged children living in the borough and consequently has a duty to
plan adequately for predicted pupil numbers.

3.2

Current housing development plans along with the housing allocations
defined in the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework, GMSF (currently still
under consultation) dictate that pupil numbers in Rochdale may continue to
grow in some localities and plans must be put in place to create the needed
school capacity. New housing build rates have been above those required to
be delivered by the GMSF for two years.

3.3

Parental choice creates a situation where parents who can, are more likely to
travel longer distances to school, this means that spare capacity is more likely
to be concentrated in fewer schools and consequently over supply of school
places is a consideration. Falling birth rates and increased housing mean that
places are constantly under review.
Key Points for Consideration

4.1

Heywood
In recent years Woodland CP, Harwood Park CP, St Joseph’s RC Primary and
St Luke’s CE Primary have all been extended creating an additional 90
Reception places. House building rates have been relatively high in Heywood
for the nine years, and are due to slow. However housing coming forward at the
junction 19 development will require a new school to be delivered through the
Free School Presumption route. Good timing of the new housing and new
school will be crucial to maintain sufficient places.

Extra
Recepti
onPlace
s
Needed
Plans

Future
Issues

2021-22
34 spare

Harwood
Park has a
temporary
bulge class
in this year
(+30)

202223
22
spare

2023-24
6 spare

2024-25
25 spare

Look to provide a
temporary bulge
class if needed for
2023/23

(ii) New housing coming forward in
Heywood will require a new 1 form entry
school and an - extension to an existing
school may be required in the interim.

Page 11

4.2

Middleton
Five schools in Middleton have been extended recently, creating an additional
105 places. Two further schools have provided bulge classes for consecutive
years. However Reception year started with 68 spare places in September 2018
and 86 spare places in 2019 and this amount of spare capacity caused
significant issues with school financing. It appears likely that extra capacity will
need to be sought in either the east or south of the area requiring expansion of
an existing school.
202223

2023-24

Extra
Reception
Places
Needed

4
places 32
needed
spare

11 spare

Plans

Look to provide
a
temporary
bulge class

Look to provide temporary
bulge class

2021-22

Keep under review pupil place need
because
of
new
housing
developments.
Permanent
expansion of school may be needed
in East or South of Middleton.

Future
Issues

4.3

202425
40
spare

Pennines
In recent years St Andrews CE and Newhey CP have been extended and a
further 3 schools have taken temporary bulge classes. New housing at Birch Hill
hospital is thought to have increased applications for places in the north and
further housing developments are under construction. Although current birth
rates indicate dropping numbers, housing developments under construction will
impact on the current spare capacity. Bulge classes will be needed in north
Pennines for 2021 intake, but in the south previous rises in birth rates have not
been a good predictor of Reception place uptake in the area. Places in the south
of the area will be kept under review.

Page 12

Pennines S

Pennines N

Extra
Recepti
on
Places
Needed
Plans

4.4

2021-22

2022-23

2023-24

2024-25

13 places needed

44 spare

35 spare

37 spare

Look to provide a
temporary bulge
class

Future
Issues

Extra
Recepti
on
Places
Needed
Plans/
Future
issues

Keep under review
pupil place need
because of new
housing
developments

24 places needed

9 places needed

16 spare

12 spare

Too much capacity has been an issue in
this area previously and spare capacity
in the North Pennines and Central
Rochdale regions could be sufficient.
Plans will remain under review.

Rochdale
Permanent school expansions have been carried out recently in the north-west,
at Whittaker Moss CP, in central Rochdale, at Belfield CP and Lowerplace CP,
and in the south at Sandbrook CP, Castleton CP and St Johns in Thornham,
creating an additional 123 places in Reception year.

4.5

There is a peak in birth rates for 2020 intake in the north west and east, but
current pupil numbers from births in the area are then due to drop. NE Rochdale
sees high levels of in-year admissions and NW Rochdale has many parents
who opt to travel into the area for schools. Rochdale NE also has a significant
level of new housing coming forward.

4.6

In the south and central areas of Rochdale, birth rates zigzag and show only a
slight decline. Additional capacity was created due to high birth rates in the area
and insufficient places and the high level of in-year admissions. Housing
developments in the south of the area have also impacted on the sufficiency of
places. Timing of new housing developments and creation of sufficient places
is going to be an issue going forward and current forecasts of spare capacity
need to be reviewed constantly.

Page 13

NW and NE Rochdale
C and SW Rochdale

Extra
Recept
ion
Places
Neede
d

2021-22

2022-23

2023-24

2024-25

49 spare

51 spare

57 spare

74 spare

Spare capacity will be reviewed
however high in-year admissions
means spare capacity needs to be
sufficient to maintain school
stability.

Plans/
Future
Issues
Extra
Recept
ion
Places
Neede
d
Plans
Future
Issues

37 spare

112 spare

60 spare

99 spare

Spare capacity in the central zone will be kept
under review but large numbers of in-year
applications requires sufficient growth capacity
Additional housing developments in the south means a new
school will be needed in the area in the long term.

Summary
Current spare capacity is a consideration in some areas but rising levels of
new housing will cause pockets of higher need as housing is completed.
II. In Heywood the new school within the Junction 19 development will require
the council to tender for an academy trust through the Presumption route.
The school will be funded through the developer contributions, but Rochdale
Council will have to run a Presumption competitive tender process. The
successful trust will be chosen by the DfE through the Regional School
Commissioners Office.
III. In Heywood, prior to the new school, additional places may need to be
created for 2023/24 and this would need to be delivered through an
expansion of an existing school. Depending on the phasing of the new
housing more capacity will be needed in the Hopwood - area.
IV. In Middleton in recent years there has been too much spare capacity, but
new housing currently under construction means that additional capacity will
need to be created in the south or east of the area. An additional bulge class
is required for 2021 for 1 year.
V. In Pennines north additional housing has required bulge classes recently
and another bulge class will be needed for 1 year for 2021. With birth rates
appearing to fall but more new housing developments under-construction
place sufficiency will need to be reviewed constantly. A new school or
permanent expansion may be required in the near future.
VI. Currently more school capacity is being delivered in south-west Rochdale
due to current need. Housing developments are also coming forward and
more capacity will be needed in the longer term either by a new school or
the expansion of existing schools.

4.7 I.

Page 14

4.8

Conclusions
Bulge classes are needed in north Pennines and Middleton for 2021 each for 1
year only. Children’s Services will look to create additional capacity where
possible in existing spaces, but some costs for the additional classes may be
needed.

4.9

Longer term extra capacity will be needed in Middleton for 2023 onwards and
Children’s services will discuss possibilities with schools in the area of need.

4.10

Alternatives Considered
Alternatives are constantly under review and any impacts of the current
pandemic on house building rates or timing of new developments will have
knock on effects on school capacity.
Costs and Budget Summary

5.1

The costs associated with co-ordinating admission arrangements are met
from the Dedicated Schools Grant.

5.2

The cost of approximately £300,000 for creation of classroom bulge spaces
for the bulge classes mentioned in paragraph 4.8 will be funded by the ESFA
annual allocations of Basic Need capital budget.

5.3

Where applicable, schools offering additional pupil places to meet the LA’s
statutory need may also be eligible for additional revenue funding from the
Dedicated Schools Grant. The policy and funding available for basic need
growth has to be agreed with Schools Forum.
Risk and Policy Implications

6.1

The application of pupil place planning arrangements contributes to the
Council Business Plan in ensuring an effective allocation process for school
admissions. The council has a statutory duty to offer a school place to every
child living in the borough and must manage the schools estate to meet the
predicted need.

6.2

For any new school needed the Council does not have under its direct
control the legal mechanisms to create new schools and must, under the
Academies Act 2010 and Education Act 2011, seek Department for
Education approved academy trust providers to provide the schools.
Guidance from the DfE, for - delivery of a school, using the Presumption will
be followed when appropriate.
Consultation

7.

Plans developed from this report for any permanent school extensions will
be presented to the relevant Township Committees for consideration, before
being reported to Cabinet. A formal consultation process will be conducted
as defined by the government guidance on Prescribed Alterations to Schools
if required.

Page 15

Background Papers

Place of Inspection

8.

For Further Information Contact:

Fay Davies, ,
fay.davies@rochdale.gov.uk

Page 16

Agenda Item 9
Report to Cabinet
Date of Meeting
Portfolio
Report Author
Public/Private Document

29th September 2020
Cabinet Member for
Children's Services
Fay Davies
Public
Appendix 1 - Private

Secondary School Places 2021 and 2022
Executive Summary
1.1

Rochdale Council is awaiting delivery of two new mainstream Secondary
schools that are being delivered by the Department for Education, DfE,
through the Free school programme. The DfE will not guarantee when the
schools will open until planning consent for the schools is guaranteed and until
a date for practical completion is set.

1.2

Until that date the council must work to meet its statutory obligation to offer
every child living in the borough a place in Secondary school.

1.3

The Schools Organisation and Development Team are working closely with
the DfE to deliver the new schools as soon as possible but must also plan for
the scenario where any new school places are delayed. This report details
these plans.
Recommendation

2.1

That Cabinet approve the release of funds from Basic Need capital funding to
deliver additional places at Wardle Academy for 2021 and 2022 as detailed in
appendix 1.

2.2

That Cabinet recognise that the delivery of our much needed Secondary
schools through the central government Free school programme leaves the
council dependent on timings and decisions by central government with
regards to the delivery of those schools, and consequently puts at risk delivery
of its statutory duty to offer a school place to every child living in the borough.

2.3

That Cabinet approve the release of funds from Basic Need capital funding to
meet the need to deliver 120 additional places for September 2021 in existing
borough Secondary schools, as detailed in appendix 1.

2.4

That Cabinet approve the release of funds from Basic Need capital funding to
support the delivery of the new Edgar Wood academy, if DfE deem that the

Page 17

early opening in temporary accommodation is deliverable for 2021.

Reason for Recommendation
3.1

The council has a statutory duty to offer every pupil living in the borough, who
applies, a Secondary school place. Where the council offers a school place
that is over the statutory “safe walking distance” for the age of that child the
council is required to provide free school transport. Because bus transport in
the area is provided through Transport for Greater Manchester, any child
offered a school place, which is over the statutory distance criteria, is offered a
free bus pass that is provided from council funds. The council receives no
central government funding for school bus transport.

3.2

The council does receive Basic Need funding to provide additional school
places for both permanent and temporary school building expansions and
bulge classes. The allocation of Basic Need funding from central government
is reported annually to the council Cabinet and the report this year was
approved on 31st March 2020.

3.3

A shortage of Secondary school places is forecast for 2021 and 2022 intakes,
and for school intakes in every following year until the time that the two new
mainstream school are delivered.
Key Points for Consideration

4.

Contingency plans for Secondary school intake were last reported to Cabinet
on 26th February 2019. In those plans schools were asked to volunteer to take
additional children for 2019, and for 2020 all schools were asked to take an
additional 10 places each in order to meet the forecast shortfall of 120 places
for September 2020 intake. Additional capacity delivered through the request
for 2020 intake, was funded through Basic Need where capital works were
required to meet need.

4.1

For September 2020 our existing Secondary schools offered 60 additional
places in 5 of our Secondary schools. 4 of these schools had already been
extended in recent years through addition of extra classroom spaces to create
extra forms of entry (FE). St Annes Academy also increased its year 7 intake
by 30 children (1 FE), and raised its Pupil Admission Number (PAN) to 180
pupils, so that the school will move eventually from a 750 place school to a
900 place school. They consulted on the move to close their sixth form centre
and raise their PAN in May 2019. The total number of additional places thus
delivered was 90 for September 2020 intake.

4.2

At the point of writing, the allocation of places to applicants for Secondary
school showed that all borough schools were full (or close to) except for
Oulder Hill Community School and Newhouse Academy (formerly Siddal Moor
Sports College). Some change in on-roll numbers both prior and post school
opening date is normal as parents and pupils change their plans. The schools
Admissions team work to offer places at preferred schools whenever they can.
On offer day 87.8% of Secondary first preference offers were met, down from

Page 18

88.8% the year before.
4.3

Pupil forecasts for 2021 and 2022 by Township are shown in the table below.
Red text denotes a shortage of places
Township Area
Heywood
Middleton
Pennines
Rochdale

Places
Available
360*
660
510
1320

2021
forecast
348
774
589
1243

Intake 2022
forecast
387
798
587
1236

Intake

* Places in Heywood include Newhouse Academy with an admission number of 210 (which
relates to its building capacity rather than its formal PAN, which is currently 270).

4.4

4.5

Both Middleton township and Pennines areas have had significant rises in
pupil numbers and significant numbers of new houses. Both areas see a net
in-flow of children at Secondary transition; the schools are popular and mostly
oversubscribed. Both areas also see net in-flows from other boroughs.
Admissions criteria do not recognise formal borough boundaries but places
are offered by admissions authorities on a measure of distance from home to
school.
Pennines
The forecast for places in Pennines is steady, from this intake in 2020 through
to 2022, with a similar shortages of approximately 80 places per year. The
next rise in pupil numbers in the area is due in 2023 for Secondary admissions
and is the cohort that will start year 4 now. Without the new school the area
will see a forecasted place deficit of 133 places in 2023.

4.6

Cohorts in Pennines Secondary schools have risen slowly but steadily, and
have been oversubscribed for several years. For the last two years a number
of Pennines families have been offered places in Rochdale Township schools.
Admission authority criteria do not recognise township boundaries in their
pupil distance rankings. In Pennines 18 pupils in 2018/19, and 13 pupils in
2019/20 have been offered free bus travel due to being over the statutory
distance.

4.7

Extra capacity has been provided previously by a permanent building
extension at Hollingworth Academy and additional places have been offered at
Wardle Academy in most of the preceding years recently.

4.8

It is looking increasing likely that the new Secondary school building in
Littleborough will not be completed for the 2022 intake. School building
completion is considered to take about 24 months. The Star Academies Trust
has said they stand ready to work to deliver the school as soon as possible
once DfE have completed their initial site feasibility investigations. Star
Academies have also indicated that they favour opening early in temporary
accommodation if possible, but this is at the discretion of the DfE. The local
authority must be prepared to meet its obligations to parents and children in
Pennines under every eventuality.

Page 19

4.9

The Watergrove Trust (previously Wardle Academy Trust) has now offered to
create an additional 100 places over two years at Wardle Academy by
modifications within its existing structure. This will increase the admission
number to the school from 240 to 290 per year, as bulge classes for 2021 and
2022. Wardle Academy is oversubscribed, and received 289 first preference
applications, and 578 total preference applications for places in 2020.The trust
is asking for match funding from the council to complete the required internal
modifications. The Basic Need funding being requested from the council is
detailed in Appendix 1. The request meets a significant need for places in the
area and will mean less children travelling too far to school. The costs will be
in line with previous Basic Need places created by the council.

Middleton
4.10 Primary schools in Middleton have been under significant pupil place
pressures for some time. Cohort growth is found in every year group and over
the Primary years the increase is approximately 10%. So with the roughly 600
pupils at Reception year, the growth leads to 660 pupils by year 6. Some year
groups have seen growth rates much higher. Last year’s year-6 cohort had
618 pupils (January 2020 census), while the year 6 cohort starting this
September had 693 pupils at the same census. There are currently 660
Secondary school places on offer in year 7 for 2021.
4.11 For this (2020) intake an additional permanent increase in the admission
number at St Annes Academy and 180 places were offered. At Cardinal
Langley RC Secondary 220 places were offered (including a temporary 10
place increase). At Middleton Technology School 270 places were offered.
Consequently with 618 pupils in the Primary school (year 6) cohort locally and
with 680 places offered, at the time of writing, it looked like all places locally
will be filled. This is a 10% in-flow in pupil numbers at Secondary transition.
4.12 Historically schools in Middleton see anywhere between 5 and 15% increase
in pupil numbers at Secondary transition. Both Middleton Technology School
and Cardinal Langley recruit from across borough boundaries. Cardinal
Langley Secondary school recruits on faith criteria and Middleton Technology
School sits close enough to the Oldham borough border to see significant
numbers applying from out of the borough. Both these schools are
oversubscribed. The Middleton area, because of its boundary, is also
impacted by shortages and surpluses in school places at out of borough
schools. For this reason the forecasted place numbers must always be taken
with some caution. All local GM boroughs are under similar Secondary place
shortages currently.
4.13 The forecasted shortage of places in Middleton is 114 place for 2021 and 138
places for 2022. These shortages are calculated from an expected 10%
increase in pupils on transition. In some previous years this rate has been
higher.
4.14 All the Secondary schools in Middleton have now had expansions to increase
their pupil admission number: St Anne’s (+30), Cardinal Langley (+30) and
Middleton Technology (+60). Both St Anne’s and Cardinal Langley have also
taken additional pupil increases several times in previous year groups.

Page 20

4.15 In neighbouring Heywood, Holy Family Secondary school has also has a
building extension to increase its admission number (+30) and taken
additional children in other intake years and Newhouse Academy (formerly
Siddal Moor Sports College) was in negotiation on a building extension which,
because of its conversion to Academy, has now been put on hold. Siddal Moor
Sports College did increase its pupil admission number at the request of the
council and offered 30 additional places in 2018 and 60 additional places in
2019 and 2020. Because the building extension is now on hold, the council is
aware that while the official PAN is 270, the academy must also safeguard the
health and safety aspects of the school accommodation for its pupils.
Academy schools are under the direct control of the Secretary of State for
Education through the Regional School Commissioners Office and are not
under local authority control.
4.16 Contingency planning for the additional places needed for September 2021 in
Middleton is needed. The council is working closely with the DfE to create
additional capacity through the early opening of the Edgar Wood Academy.
Altus Education Partnership trust (Rochdale Sixth Form College trust), who
successfully bid to open the new school, have said they fully support the
efforts of the council and are committed to supporting local parents to find the
best solution for parents needing school places for their children in Middleton.
4.17 The current timeline is for the Edgar Wood Academy permanent school
building to be ready for the 2022 intake when it will offer 180 places in that
intake. At this early stage that timeline could however shift. An outline plan has
been submitted to the local planning authority for the permanent site at Birch /
Bowlee, and with the delivery of the scheme now progressing, if no significant
obstacles are encountered and if planning consent is given, the opening date
of September 2022 is eminently achievable. Gaining planning consent for the
school is at the discretion of the local planning authority who are constrained
to follow both procedure and the law.
4.18 For 2021, if early opening of the Edgar Wood Academy is agreed by DfE, a
temporary site must be found and a temporary school built. Statistics by
Schools Week media (20th September 2019) has suggested up to 50% of new
schools are currently being delivered in temporary school buildings. Altus
Education Partnership and the Edgar Wood Academy team have stated their
desire is to open an Outstanding school from day 1, and they stand ready to
provide an excellent education to Middleton children who apply for their new
school when it opens. Contributions towards infrastructure for the temporary
site is also being requested (appendix 1) in this report in order that any site
matters falling outside of the DfE remit can be delivered in a timely manner.
4.19 If the new school opens in Middleton for September 2021 then 120 places will
be offered and this will meet the forecasted need. If DfE decide that the school
cannot be opened early then existing schools in Rochdale are being asked,
once again, to create additional places. With the current Covid situation, this is
a uniquely difficult time for the council to be asking its Secondary schools to
create more additional space to meet the forecasted pupil place need.
Consequently, the Director of Children’s Services is asking all its Secondary

Page 21

schools to consider what additional places they feel they can now offer to
Rochdale families needing places. Funding from Basic Need will be offered to
schools to fund any building works necessary as detailed in appendix 1.
Alternatives Considered
4.20 The council must meet its statutory duty to offer all borough pupils a place in
Secondary schools and this document details the preferred option of the early
opening of the Edgar Wood Academy and the backup plan for additional
capacity.
Costs and Budget Summary
5.1

Costs of any capital works associated with creating additional capacity at
existing Secondary schools will be met by the Basic Need allocation from DfE.
This includes both works at Wardle academy and further schemes brought
forward to meet need for 2021.

5.2

Where applicable, schools offering additional pupil places to meet the LA’s
statutory need may also be eligible for additional revenue funding from the
Dedicated Schools Grant. The policy and funding available for basic need
growth has to be agreed with Schools Forum.

5.3

It is expected that some costs could be requested by DfE from the council if
early opening in temporary accommodation of the Edgar Wood academy goes
ahead and this will be funded through Basic Need as it is required to provide
additional school place capacity.
Risk and Policy Implications

6.1

This reports details a plan to support the early opening of the Edgar Wood
Academy to meet the forecast for school places in September 2021. It also
details the plan to meet the place need, in the event that the new school
does not open. If the new school does not open and sufficient places are not
created then there is a risk that the council will fail in its statutory duty to offer
a place to every child living in the borough a Secondary school place. 10 of
the 12 Secondary schools in Rochdale are their own Admission authority i.e.
the council does not have control over their admissions processes.

6.2

Provision of sufficient Secondary school places, within the new school
buildings that are being delivered through the centrally managed Free school
programme, are not under control of the local authority, but because the
statutory duty to provide places resides with the local authority then
consequently the local authority needs to be ready to work with local partners
to meet the needs of its residents if required.
Consultation

7.1

In order to open the new Edgar Wood Academy the Altus Education
Partnership trust need to run a statutory consultation to seek stakeholder
views.

Page 22

7.2

Any temporary school accommodation that meets the criteria is required to
go through the statutory consultation process.

7.3

Any additional capacity at Wardle Academy must be agreed with the
Watergrove Trust governing board. The trust is an independent body and
must abide by DfE regulations with respect to academy processes.
Background Papers

Place of Inspection

8.

For Further Information Contact:

Fay Davies, ,
fay.davies@rochdale.gov.uk

Page 23

By virtue of paragraph(s) 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 24

